
City of Oakbrook Terrace 
 

City Hall 
17W275 Butterfield Rd. 

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 
 

 
 

City Council Regular Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, September 23rd, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
 

  



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 23, 2025 
2 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
Tuesday, September 23rd, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 

 
Mayor Paul Esposito 

City Clerk Michael Shadley 
City Council Members:  

Ward 1: Alderman Charlie Barbari and Alderman Eric Biskup 

Ward 2: Alderman Michael Sarallo and Alderman Dennis Greco 

Ward 3: Alderman Bob Rada and Alderwoman Mary Fitzgerald 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. ROLL CALL 

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

IV. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS 

1. Meeting Minutes of September 9th, 2025. 

VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
VII. ACTION ITEMS / CONSENT AGENDA  

1. Payment of City Bills: September 23rd, 2025, In the amount of $299,127.22. 

2. Ordinance No. 25- 30 Authorizing the Participation in the DuPage County 2025 Bulk 

Rock Salt Program and to Approve and Authorize the Execution of a Contract with 

Compass Minerals America, Inc, for the Purchase of Rock Salt for the City of Oakbrook 

Terrace, Illinois. 

VIII. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
IX. RECESS TO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

 
X. MAYOR ESPOSITO 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 23, 2025 
3 

 
XI. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

 
1. An Ordinance Amending the Provisions of Section 30.35, Entitled “Council to Act as A 

Body” of Chapter 30, Entitled “General Provisions” of Title III Entitled, “Administration” of 

the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois.   

2. Ordinance Approving and Ratifying the Issuance of a Purchase Order for the Purchase 

of One 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder for the City of Oakbrook Terrace.  

3.  A Resolution Authorizing and Directing Compliance with Section 7.3(b) of the Open 

Meetings Act – City of Oakbrook Terrace - 2025.  

4. Discussion Item – FY27 Budget Calendar. 

 
XII. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

XIII. CITY ATTORNEY 

XIV. CITY CLERK  
XV. CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
XVI. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

XVII. RECESS TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1. Closed session pursuant to Section 2(c)(1) of the Open Meetings Act to discuss the 

appointment, employment, compensation or performance of a specific employee, 

2. Closed session pursuant to Section 2(c)(2) of the Open Meetings Act to discuss 

collective negotiating matters between the city and its employees or their 

representatives, or deliberations concerning salary schedules for one or more classes of 

employees. 

XVIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

XIX. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

XX. NEW BUSINESS 
1. A Resolution Authorizing and Directing Compliance with Section 7.3(b) of the Open 

Meetings Act – City of Oakbrook Terrace - 2025.  

XXI. ADJOURN 
Next Regular City Council Meeting Tuesday, October 14th, 2025. 

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State laws, the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace meetings will be accessible to individuals with disabilities.  Persons requiring 
auxiliary aids and services should contact the Executive Offices at 17W275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook 
Terrace, Illinois 60181, or call (630) 941-8300 in advance of the meeting to inform them of their 
anticipated attendance. 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
 

City Hall 
17W275 Butterfield Rd. 

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 
 

 
 

City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, September 9th 12th at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
 

  



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 9th, 2025 
2 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Tuesday, September 9th, 2025 at 7:00 PM 

Council Chambers - City Hall - 17W261 Butterfield Road 
www.oakbrookterrace.net 

 

 
Mayor Paul Esposito 

City Clerk Michael Shadley 
City Council Members: 

Ward 1: Alderman Charlie Barbari and Alderman Eric Biskup 
Ward 2: Alderman Michael Sarallo and Alderman Dennis Greco 
Ward 3: Alderman Bob Rada and Alderwoman Mary Fitzgerald 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Esposito called the September 9th, 2025, Regular and Committee of the Whole Meeting 
of the City Council to order at 7:00 PM. 

 
II. ROLL CALL 

Roll call indicated the following City Council members in attendance: 
Present: Barbari, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, Rada, and Mayor Esposito 
Absent: Sarallo 

 
Also in attendance: City Clerk M. Shadley, Acting City Administrator: T. Walker, and City 
Attorney R. Ramello. 

 
III. Mayor Esposito led everyone in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
IV. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA 

None 
 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - CHANGES OR CORRECTIONS 
Meeting Minutes of August 26th, 2025 

Alderman Rada had one correction to the Regular City Council Minutes.  Beth Marchettis’s 
father from the DuPage Convention & Visitors Bureau passed away. 

 
A motion to approve the Regular City Council Meeting Minutes with the noted correction from 
August 26th, 2025 was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Rada. 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 9th, 2025 
3 

 
Ayes: Barbari, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes: None 
Absent: Sarallo 

 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

None 
 
VII. ACTION ITEMS / CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Payment of City Bills: September 9th, 2025, In the amount of $247,279.82. 
 

2. Ordinance No. 25-29 Amending Section 34.24 Entitled “Permitted Investments” of 
Chapter 34 Entitled “Finance” of Title III Entitled “Administration” and Adopting an 
Investment Policy for the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois. 

 
Motion to approve the Action Items/Consent Agenda of the September 9th, 2025, Regular City 
and Committee of the Whole Payment was made by Alderman Fitzgerald and seconded by 
Alderman Greco. 
 
Ayes: Barbari, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes: None 
Absent: Sarallo 

 
VIII. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 

None 
 
IX. RECESS TO COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

Motion to recess to the Committee of the Whole portion of this meeting was made by 
Alderman Greco and seconded by Alderman Barbari.   An acclamation vote was taken. 

 
Ayes: Barbari, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes: None 
Absent: Sarallo 

 
X. MAYOR ESPOSITO 

City Council photos will take place at the next meeting on 9/23 at 6:00 PM.  On 9/15 the City 
will be swearing in 2 new police officers at 11:00 AM. After the loss of John Kohlberg, the 
Mayor would like to appoint resident Frank Siciliano to the Police Pension Board for a 2-year 
term to expire in May 2027.  The Mayor will send his bio to council prior to their vote.   District 
48 ribbon cutting and open houses are scheduled.  The Annual Shred Drive will be held on 
9/13 in the City Hall parking lot.  The aldermen are encouraged to attend. The Mayor 
expressed a thank you to the aldermen for approving the budget for the 4th Annual Summer 
Concert series. The concerts were well attended by residents and the Mayor thanks The Lions 
Club, and other various sponsors and vendors.  

 
 
XI. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

1. Ordinance Authorizing the Participation in the DuPage County 2025 Bulk Rock Salt 
Program and the Execution of a Contract between the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, 
and Compass Materials America, Inc. for the Purchase of Rock Salt. 

 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 9th, 2025 
4 

 
This is an annual process.  The cost for 2025 is $28,316 in ordering 400 tons of salt.  This is a 
decrease of $2,500 from last year.   

 
Alderwoman Fitzgerald thanked Craig for the history of salt for the City.  Craig relayed that the 
salt barn should be up by first snowfall. 
 
Alderman Barbari – no comment 
 
Alderman Biskup noted it is nice to see the price of salt go down.  In reply to a question, the 
shed will hold approximately 12 tons of salt. 
 
Alderman Greco asked if the City could stockpile, to which Craig replied, yes 30%. 
   
Alderman Rada questioned what percentage of salt was lost prior to having a shed?  Craig 
replied, 20%.   

 
2. Redevelopment of Robinette Property – Status Update 

In attendance: David Haigh from NAI Hiffman, John Pagliari – Panattoni Development 
Company, Inc. and Sean Keeley from Keely Construction.  

John Pagliari from Panattoni gave an update with the progress and development of the 
Robinette Property.  A 336,000 sq ft. building would be situated along Route 83.  Concerned 
with surrounding neighbors, they have met with Walmart to address their concerns. A 5-12’ 
retaining wall would be built in Villa Park to block lights from disturbing neighbors as trucks 
pull in. The mayor questioned the widening of Riverside Drive as an issue with Villa Park 
while servicing Walmart customers.  John replied there is a triparty agreement between 
Oakbrook Terrace, Oakbrook and Elmhurst in working with IDOT and they are looking to get 
their approvals in 2026, build in 2027 and finish in 2028.   

Alderwoman Fitzgerald asked about the timeline in which the reply was that they hope to 
break ground, demolish the existing structure and begin building in the spring.   

Alderman Barbari relayed his best wishes in the project. 

Alderman Biskup expressed concern over the increased traffic on the street near Walmart 
and whether it should go all the way through to avoid accidents.   

Alderman Greco asked when the project will be submitted for council to approve.  The reply 
was that it should be within the next two months with a public hearing within the next 60 
days.  Greco asked for written protection from NAI Hiffman that the site would not contain a 
waste center.   

Alderman Rada asked about the management of the building.  The reply was they would 
hire a management company.  Environmental people are looking at the site to test the wells 
to make sure everything is clean.   

Next steps per the mayor is land acquisition and submittal of the plans to council.  Melissa 
stated the zoning attorney is working on the applications.   

The mayor thanked the team and appreciated their transparency and updates.  



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 9th, 2025 
5 

 
XII. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 

Alderman Rada discussed tourism dollars and how the County of DuPage is being affected. 
 
Alderman Greco thanked Sgt. Hylton for his many years of service.  Greco discussed a 
residential property on Karban Road in a flood zone that recently sold. Greco suggested the city 
acquire this piece of property.   
 
Alderman Biskup conveyed that lots of police and fire continue to be lost due to cancer related 
issues following 9/11.  Thank you to Craig from public works and the mayor for a speed sign 
placed near his home, it has helped in people slowing down.  
 
Alderwoman Fitzgerald questioned whether sexual harassment training was a requirement for 
the alderpeople.  The attorney replied that aldermen are not employees of the city and not 
mandated to take the training; however, it is recommended. Fitzgerald requested that Melissa 
update council on other developments within the city on a quarterly basis and separately a 
market study. 
 
Alderman Barbari inquired about vacant residential lots.  
 

XIII. CITY ATTORNEY 
None 

 
XIV. CITY CLERK 

None 
 
XV. CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

None 
 

XVI. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
Motion to reconvene the City Council meeting was made by Alderman Greco and seconded 
by Alderman Barbari   Motion approved via an acclamation vote. 

 
XVII. RECESS TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Motion to recess to Executive Session was made by Alderman Biskup and seconded by 
Alderman Greco.   

 
Ayes: Barbari, Biskup, Fitzgerald, Greco, and Rada 
Nayes:  
Absent: Sarallo 

 
XVIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Closed session pursuant to Section 2(c)(2) of the Open Meetings Act to discuss collective 
negotiating matters between the city and its employees or their representatives and 
deliberations concerning salary schedules for one or more classes of employees. 

  
XIX. RECONVENE THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Motion to reconvene the City Council meeting was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded 
by Alderman Biskup Motion approved via an acclamation vote. 

 



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
City Council Regular Meeting 

September 9th, 2025 
6 

 
XX. NEW BUSINESS 
 

None 
 
XXI. ADJOURN 
 
Motion to adjourn was made by Alderman Barbari and seconded by Alderman Rada at 9:12 PM 
 
Acclamation vote was made with all Ayes.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
_____________________________________________________ 
Margie Tannehill, Recording Secretary 
 
Attested: 
 
 
_____________________________________________________ 
Michael Shadley 
City Clerk 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable Federal and State 
laws, the City of Oakbrook Terrace meetings will be accessible to individuals with 
disabilities.  Persons requiring auxiliary aids and services should contact the Executive Offices 
at 17W275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181, or call (630) 941-8300 in advance 
of the meeting to inform them of their anticipated attendance. 

















17 W 275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181 
Phone (630) 941-8300  FAX (630) 941-7254 

    
 
 
 
 

Interdepartmental Memo 
 
 
 
 
To:   Tanya Walker, Interim City Administrator / Finance Director  
 
From: Craig Ward, Director of Public Services   
 
Re:   Salt Storage Facility Pay Request #1  
 
Date:   September 16, 2025 
 
 
I agree with Christopher Burke Engineering for payment of pay request #1 
to Bulk Storage Inc in the amount of $107,966.70.  This total reflects a 10% 
retainage withheld.  
 
Bulk Storage broke ground on September 2nd and is now completed with 
the paving / foundation portion of the project and should be paid 
accordingly.  The project is going very well so far.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance No. 25-30 
 
 

1076182.1 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 25 - 30 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE PARTICIPATION IN THE DUPAGE COUNTY 
2025 BULK ROCK SALT PROGRAM AND TO APPROVE AND AUTHORIZE THE 

EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT WITH COMPASS MINERALS AMERICA, INC. FOR 
THE PURCHASE OF ROCK SALT FOR THE  
CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of local 
government under Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as limited by 
such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 
affairs; 

WHEREAS, in addition to its home-rule powers and pursuant to Article 11 of the Illinois 
Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/11, the City has the authority to maintain public roadways within its 
corporate limits; 

WHEREAS, the City proposes to purchase rock salt to be used to de-ice roadways in the 
City for the public benefit (the “Materials”); 

WHEREAS, the Governmental Joint Purchasing Act (30ILCS 525/0.01 et seq.) authorizes 
governmental units to purchase personal property, supplies and services jointly with one or more 
other governmental units through a competitive bid process; 

WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the City have authority, pursuant to its Purchasing 
and Procurement Procedures (Sections 30.65 through 30.75, inclusive, of the Code of Oakbrook 
Terrace, Illinois) to purchase goods for which the price to be paid by the City has been established 
within one year preceding the letting of the proposed contract by the City, by open and competitive 
bidding through an intergovernmental group of municipalities or other local governments, or an 
agency of the federal, state or county governments; 

WHEREAS, DuPage County administers a joint purchase program whereby it publicly 
advertises for sealed bids for the purchase of rock salt by DuPage County municipalities; 

WHEREAS, On May 15, 2025, DuPage County advertised for bids for its 2025 Bulk Rock 
Salt Program in the Illinois Department of Transportation’s Contractor’s Bulletin; and at 2:00 p.m. 
on June 5, 2025, two (2) bids were received, publicly opened, examined and declared;  

WHEREAS, of the bids received, opened and evaluated, the apparent lowest responsible 
bidder was Compass Minerals America Inc.; 

WHEREAS, DuPage County evaluated the bids submitted and determined that the bid 
submitted by Compass Minerals America Inc. in the amount of Seventy and 79/100 Dollars ($70.79) 
per ton payable on a unit price basis, for the units of Materials listed in the Proposal properly 
supplied and delivered to the City was the lowest bid submitted by a responsible bidder; 



Ordinance No. 25-30 
 

1329502.1 2 

WHEREAS, on June 24, 2025, DuPage County approved a resolution awarding a contract to 
Compass Minerals America Inc., 9900 W. 109th Street, Suite 100, Overland Park, Kansas 66210 for 
the purchase of rock salt; and 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the best interest of 
the City to enter into a Contract with Compass Minerals America Inc. for the supply of 400 tons of 
the Materials (the “Contract”), a copy of which Contract is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made 
a part hereof; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council of the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1: The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this ordinance are found 
to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this ordinance. 

Section 2: The City Council hereby determines that it is advisable, necessary and in the 
public interest that the City participate in the DuPage County joint purchase program for the 
purchase of rock salt and that the City enter into a Contract with Compass Minerals America, Inc. for 
the supply of the Materials. 

Section 3:   The Contract with all other necessary written contract documents attached 
shall be issued to or otherwise made available for execution by Compass Minerals America, Inc. for 
the supply of the Materials subject to the furnishing of the proper bonds and insurance.  

Section 4: The form, terms and provisions of the Contract and the separate exhibits as 
provided in the Contract for the supply of the Materials substantially in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A,” are hereby approved and provided that Compass Minerals America Inc. returns the 
Contract to the City within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Contract with all other necessary 
written contract documents attached, properly executed by it, along with the proper contract bonds 
and insurance, then the Mayor shall be and is hereby authorized and directed to execute and the City 
Clerk shall be and is hereby authorized and directed to attest on behalf of the City the Contract and 
with such terms therein, consistent with this ordinance as may be approved by the officials executing 
the same, their execution thereof shall constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of the same, 
subject to review and approval of such Contract by the Mayor and the Corporation Counsel. The 
officials, officers, employees and agents of the City are authorized to take such actions and execute 
such documents as are necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of this ordinance. 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 



Ordinance No. 25-30 
 

1329502.1 3 

Section 5: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 
and publication in accordance with law. 

ADOPTED this 23rd day of September 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: ___________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________ 

ABSENT: ___________________________________ 

ABSTENTION: ___________________________________ 

APPROVED by me this 23rd day of September 2025. 

___________________________________________ 
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
this 23rd day of September 2025. 

_____________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



 

1329502.1  Exhibit “A” - Contract 

Exhibit “A” 
 

CONTRACT BETWEEN THE CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS, 
AND COMPASS MATERIALS AMERICA, INC. FOR THE  

PURCHASE OF ROCK SALT 



1329502.1 Exhibit “A” - Contract

CONTRACT

by and between the

CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS

and

COMPASS MINERALS AMERICA, INC.

for the 

2025 BULK ROCK SALT PROGRAM

______________________________________________________________________________



 

1329502.1  Contract 
Page 1 of 6 

CONTRACT 

This Contract is made this 23rd day of September 2025 between the City of Oakbrook Terrace, the 
“Department,” and Compass Minerals America Inc., the “Contractor,” for the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace 2025 Bulk Rock Salt Program. 

In consideration of the payments to be made by the Department and of the mutual covenants herein 
set forth, the Department and the Contractor agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1. PERFORMANCE OF CONTRACT. 

The Contractor at its own proper cost and expense shall perform the following work, furnish all 
materials and labor necessary to complete the work in full compliance with all of the terms and the 
requirements of this Contract, the General Conditions, Special Provisions, the Specifications, 
Contractor’s Certification and the Contract Bond which are essential documents of and made a part 
of this Contract: 

City of Oakbrook Terrace 2025 Bulk Rock Salt Program consisting of supplying bulk rock 
salt. designated by the Department in strict compliance with the Specifications, Special 
Provisions and Contract Bond which are essential documents of and made a part of this 
Contract. 

ARTICLE 2. CONTRACT SUM AND PAYMENT. 

The Department shall pay the Contractor for the performance of the work, at the unit price of 
Seventy and 79/100 Dollars ($70.79) per ton, as set forth in the Contractor’s Proposal, as full 
compensation for furnishing all the materials, for doing all work contemplated and specified in this 
Contract, for all loss or damage arising out of the nature of the work or from any action of the 
elements, or from any unforeseen difficulties which may be encountered in the prosecution of the 
same, for all risks of every description connected with the work, and for well and faithfully 
completing the work, and the whole thereof, in full compliance with the plans and contract 
documents, and within the time stated in the Proposal, hereby made a part of hereof, which time is 
hereby declared to be of the essence of this Contract. The quantities shown in the Proposal (400 
tons) are approximate only and are subject to increase or decrease.  The Contractor will receive, in 
full payment, the amount of the summation of the actual quantities, as finally determined, multiplied 
by the unit prices shown on the schedule of prices forming a part of this Contract.  

The Department shall approve payment of and pay to the Contractor any and all fees, charges and 
amounts due to Contractor for work performed prior to the termination consistent with the 
requirements of the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (50 ILCS 505/4, et seq.).  The 
Contractor shall comply with the requirements of the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (50 
ILCS 505/4, et seq.). 

ARTICLE 3. RESERVED 

ARTICLE 4. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 



 

1329502.1  Contract 
Page 2 of 6 

4.1 Governing Law.  This Contract shall be construed under and governed by the laws 
of the State of Illinois. All actions brought to interpret or enforce any provision of this 
Contract shall be brought in the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, DuPage 
County, Illinois. 

4.2 Appropriation.  This Contract shall become effective only after an appropriation 
therefor has been made.  The term of this Contract shall be for one year following the 
effective date of the appropriation.  If the Contract Time exceeds one year following the 
effective date of the appropriation, the term of this Contract shall extend to the end of the 
Contract Time provided that an appropriation therefor has been made by the Department in 
the subsequent year(s).  

4.3 Severability of Clauses.  If any term, covenant or condition of this Contract or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, to any extent, be invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this Contract or such other documents, or the applications of 
such term, covenant or condition, to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it 
held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby; and each term, covenant or 
condition of this Contract or such other document shall be valid and shall be enforced to the 
fullest extent permitted by law.  

4.4 Waiver of Breach.  The waiver by either party of any breach of this Contract shall 
not constitute a waiver as to any other breach. 

4.5 Written Notice.  Written notice between the Department and the Contractor shall be 
deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person, or if delivered by overnight delivery 
service or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the respective party as 
follows: 

A. If to the Department: 

City of Oakbrook Terrace  
17W275 Butterfield Road 
Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181 
Attn: Ms. Tanya Walker, Interim City Administrator 
E-mail:  twalker@oakbrookterrace.net   

B. If to Contractor: 

Compass Minerals America Inc. 
9900 West 109th Street, Suite 100 
Overland Park, Kansas 66210 
Attn: Edward C. Dowling, President 
E-mail:  highwaygroup@compassminerals.com  

Either party may change its mailing address by giving written notice to the other party as 
provided above. Written notice shall be deemed to have been given on the second business 
day following the date of the mailing if sent through the U.S. postal service or on the first 
business day following the date of the mailing if sent by overnight delivery service. 



 

1329502.1  Contract 
Page 3 of 6 

Whenever this Contract requires one party to give the other notice, such notice shall be given 
only in the form and to the addresses described in this section. 

4.6 Obligations Survive.  The obligations or duties imposed upon the Contractor under 
the Contract shall survive any termination or closeout of the Contract. 

4.7 Successors and Assigns.  The Department and the Contractor each binds itself, its 
partners, successors and assigns and legal representative to the other party hereto and the 
partners, successors, assigns and legal representative of such other party with respect to all 
covenants, agreements and obligations contained herein. 

4.8 Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and in 
providing its work under this Contract shall not represent to any third party that its authority 
is greater than that granted to it under the terms of the Contract. 

4.9 Work of Other Contractors.  The Department reserves the right to execute other 
agreements in connection with this program. The Contractor shall cooperate with the 
employees and representatives of the Department and/or any contractor or consultant 
retained by the Department; but the Contractor shall not be contractually responsible for the 
employees and representatives of the Department and/or any contractor or consultant 
retained by the Department. 

4.10 Non-Assignment.  The Contractor acknowledges that the Department is induced to 
enter into this Contract by, among other things, the qualifications of the Contractor. This 
Contract is exclusive between the Department and the Contractor. This Contract or any right 
or obligations hereunder may not be assigned by the Contractor, in whole or in part, to 
another firm without first obtaining prior permission in writing from the Department. The 
Department may refuse to accept any substitute Contractor for any reason. 

4.11 Right to Audit.  The Department shall have the right to have access to and audit all 
of the Contractor’s records, books, correspondence, instructions, drawings, receipts, 
vouchers, memoranda and similar data relating to this Contract throughout the term and for a 
period of five years after final payment. The Contractor shall cooperate fully with any such 
audit and shall provide full access to all relevant materials. In addition, the Department or its 
authorized representative shall have access to the Contractor’s facilities and shall be 
provided adequate and appropriate workspace, in order to conduct audits in compliance with 
this article.  Failure to maintain the records required by this provision shall establish a 
presumption in favor of the Department for the recovery of any funds paid by the 
Department under the Contract for which adequate records are not available, through some 
fault of the Contractor, to support their purported disbursement. 

4.12 Entire Agreement.  This Contract consists of the following component parts, all of 
which are as fully a part of this Contract as if herein set out verbatim, or if not attached, as if 
attached hereto: 

(a) Contract 
(b) Contractor’s Certification 
(c) Contract Bond 
(d) Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction adopted January 1, 

2022, as amended by the ERRATA to the Standard Specifications for Road 



 

1329502.1  Contract 
Page 4 of 6 

and Bridge Construction, adopted April 1, 2022, and revised January 1, 2024, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge 
Construction” all of the Supplemental Specifications listed in the contract 
documents and those Recurring Special Provisions and Recurring Local 
Roads and Streets Special Provisions, adopted January 1, 2024, indicated on 
the Check Sheet included in the contract documents supplement the Standard 
Specifications for Road and Bridge Construction, the Bureau of Design and 
Environment (BDE) Special Provisions, indicated on the Check Sheet 
included in the contract documents, and the “Manual for Materials 
Inspection,” May 19, 2023, all issued by the State of Illinois, Department of 
Transportation and the “National Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices for Streets and Highways” (11th Edition, revised December 2023) 
supplemented by the “Illinois Supplement to the National Manual on 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways” (Revision 3, 
November 2021 Edition) issued by the Illinois Department of Transportation. 

(e) Supplemental Specifications 
(f) Special Provisions 

Bidding Requirements and Conditions for Material Proposals  
Section 107 Legal Regulations and Responsibility to Public  
Section 109 Measurement and Payment  
Scope of Contract  
Term of Contract  
Escalator Provision:  
Bulk Rock Salt  
Materials  
Delivery Requirements 3 
Pricing  
Group 1 
Group 2  
Invoicing  
Liquidated Damages  
Stocking Requirements  
Usage Reports  
Basis of Payment  

(g) Index For Supplemental Specifications and Recurring Special Provisions 
(h) Check Sheet for Recurring Special Provisions 
(i) Check Sheet for Recurring Local Roads and Streets Special Provisions 
(j) Contractor’s Proposal 

This Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties and 
supersedes all prior negotiations, representations or understandings, whether written or oral. 
This Contract may only be amended or a provision hereof waived by the parties by written 
instrument executed by authorized signatories of the Department and the Contractor. In case 
of conflict between the terms contained in the contract documents, those terms contained in 
the various contract documents shall control in the following order of precedence. 

(1) Special Provisions 



 

1329502.1  Contract 
Page 5 of 6 

(2) Recurring Special Provisions checked on the Check Sheet 
(3) Bureau of Design and Environment Special Provisions checked on Check Sheet  
(4) Supplemental Specifications 
(5) Standard Specifications  
(6) Contract 
(7) Contract Bond 
(8) Contractor’s Certification 
(19) Contractor’s Proposal 

Note: The contract documents listed in subsection 4.12(d) are separate books that will not be 
furnished by the Department but shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to obtain at its 
own expense.  The documents may be obtained from the Illinois Department of 
Transportation.  See http://www.dot.state.il.us/dobuisns.html 

4.13 Amendments. This Contract may only be amended or a provision hereof waived by 
the parties by written instrument executed by authorized signatories of the Department and 
the Contractor. This Contract is executed that day and year first written above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Contract to be executed by their duly 
authorized officers as of the dates below indicated. 

Executed by the Contractor this 23rd day of September 2025. 

Contractor: Compass Minerals America Inc. 

By: ________________________________ 
 Edward C. Dowling, President 

ATTEST: 

By:______________________________________ 
Mary L. Frontczak, Secretary 

Executed by the Department this 23rd day of September 2025. 

Department:  City of Oakbrook Terrace 

By:_________________________________ 
Paul Esposito, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

By _______________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, City Clerk 



 

1329502.1  Contract 
Page 6 of 6 

FEDERAL TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 

Under penalties of perjury, I certify that the following is the Contractor’s correct Federal 
Taxpayer Identification  

Number:  _______________________________. 

Contractor: Compass Minerals America Inc. 

By:_________________________________ 
 Edward C. Dowling, President 
 



 

1329502.1  Contractor’s Certification 
Page 1 of 3 

CONTRACTOR’S CERTIFICATION 

The assurances hereinafter made by the Contractor, are each a material representation of fact upon which 
reliance is placed by the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, in entering into the contract with the Contractor. 
The City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, may terminate the contract if it is later determined that the Contractor 
rendered a false or erroneous assurance; and the surety providing the performance bond shall be responsible 
for the completion of the contract. 

I, Edward C. Dowling, hereby certify that I am the President of Compass Minerals America Inc., and as such 
hereby represent and warrant to the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, a unit of local government, that the 
Contractor, if it is a partnership, its general partners, and if it is a corporation, its shareholders holding more 
than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of the corporation, its officers and directors are: 

1. Not delinquent in the payment of taxes to the Illinois Department of Employment Security or 
the Illinois Department of Revenue in accordance with 65 ILCS 5/11-42.1-1; 

2. Not barred from contracting as a result of a violation of either Section 33E-3 (bid-rigging) or 
33E-4 (bid-totaling) of the Criminal Code of 2012 (720 ILCS 5/33E-3 and 5/33E-4); 

3. Not in default, as defined in 5ILCS 385/2, on an educational loan, as defined in 5ILCS 385/1. 

In addition, the Contractor hereby represents and warrants to the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, as a 
condition of any agreement with the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, that the Contractor is under no legal 
prohibition on contracting with the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, has no known conflicts of interest and 
further specifically certifies that: 

1. The Contractor is not delinquent in any obligation to the Illinois Department of Employment 
Security; 

2. The Contractor maintains and will maintain a drug-free workplace in accordance with the 
Drug Free Workplace Act (30 ILCS 580/1 et seq.) by: 

A. Publishing a statement: 

(1) Notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, 
dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance including cannabis, is 
prohibited in the Contractor’s workplace; 

(2) Specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violations of 
such prohibition; 

(3) Notifying the employee that, as a condition of employment on this Contract, 
the employee will: 

a. Abide by the terms of the statement; 

b. Notify the employer of any criminal drug statute conviction for a 
violation occurring in the workplace no later than five (5) days after such 
conviction; 

B. Establishing a drug-free awareness program to inform employees about: 



 

1329502.1  Contractor’s Certification 
Page 2 of 3 

(1) The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; 

(2) The Contractor’s policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; 

(3) Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance 
program; and 

(4) The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug violations; 

C. Making it a requirement to give a copy of the statement required by Subsection A to 
each employee engaged in the performance of the Contract, and to post the statement in a 
prominent place in the workplace; 

D. Notifying the City of Oakbrook Terrace within ten (10) days after receiving notice 
under Paragraph A.3(b) from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such 
conviction; 

E. Imposing a sanction on, or requiring the satisfactory participation in a drug abuse 
assistance or rehabilitation program by any employee who is so convicted, as required by 30 
ILCS 580/5; 

F. Assisting employees in selecting a course of action in the event drug counseling 
treatment and rehabilitation is required and indicating that a trained referral team is in place; 
and  

G. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through 
implementation of this section. 

3. No City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, spouse or dependent child of a City of Oakbrook 
Terrace officer, agent on behalf of any City of Oakbrook Terrace officer or trust in which a City of 
Oakbrook Terrace officer, the spouse or dependent child of a City of Oakbrook Terrace officer or a 
beneficiary is a holder of any interest in the Contractor; or, if the Contractor’s stock is traded on a 
nationally recognized securities market, that no City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, spouse or 
dependent child of a City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, agent on behalf of any City of Oakbrook 
Terrace officer or trust in which a City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, the spouse or dependent child of 
a City of Oakbrook Terrace officer or a beneficiary is a holder of more than one percent (1%) of the 
Contractor, but if any City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, spouse or dependent child of a City of 
Oakbrook Terrace officer, agent on behalf of any City of Oakbrook Terrace officer or trust in which a 
City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, the spouse or dependent child of a City of Oakbrook Terrace  
officer or a beneficiary is a holder of less than one percent (1%) of the Contractor, the Contractor has 
disclosed to the City of Oakbrook Terrace in writing the name(s) of the holder of such interest. 

4. No officer or employee of City of Oakbrook Terrace  has solicited any gratuity, discount, 
entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other tangible or intangible item having monetary 
value including, but not limited to, cash, food and drink, and honoraria for speaking engagements 
related to or attributable to the government employment or the official position of the employee or 
officer from the Contractor in violation of Section 30.33 of Chapter 30 the Code of Oakbrook 
Terrace, Illinois. 

5. The Contractor has not given to any officer or employee of City of Oakbrook Terrace any 
gratuity, discount, entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other tangible or intangible item 



 

1329502.1  Contractor’s Certification 
Page 3 of 3 

having monetary value including, but not limited to, cash, food and drink, and honoraria for speaking 
engagements related to or attributable to the government employment or the official position of the 
employee or officer in violation Section 30.33 of Chapter 30 the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois. 

6. In compliance with the Substance Abuse Prevention on Public Works Projects Act (Public 
Act 95-0635) is a party to a collective bargaining agreement dealing with the subject matter of the 
Substance Abuse Prevention on Public Works Projects Act or has in place and is enforcing a written 
program which meets or exceeds the program requirements of the Substance Abuse Prevention on 
Public Works Projects Act. 

7. Neither the Contractor nor any of its principals, shareholders, members, partners, or affiliates, 
as applicable, is a person or entity named as a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person (as 
defined in Presidential Executive Order 13224) and that it is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or 
on behalf of a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person and that the Supplier and its 
principals, shareholders, members, partners, or affiliates, as applicable, are not, directly or indirectly, 
engaged in, and are not facilitating, the transactions contemplated by this Contract on behalf of any 
person or entity named as a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person.  

If any certification made by the Contractor changes or any term or condition on which a certification is based 
changes, which then renders the certification to be no longer valid, the Contractor shall so notify the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace in writing within seven (7) days. 

Dated: September ____, 2025   Contractor: Compass Minerals America, Inc. 

By: __________________________________________ 
Edward C. Dowling, President 

STATE OF ILLINOIS  ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF _____________ ) 

I, the undersigned, a notary public in and for the State and County aforesaid, hereby certify that Edward C. 
Dowling, known to me to be the President of Compass Minerals America Inc. appeared before me this day in 
person and, being first duly sworn on oath, acknowledged that he executed the foregoing certification as his 
free act and deed and as the authorized free act and deed of Compass Minerals America Inc. 

Dated: September ____, 2025   _____________________________________________ 
Notary Public 



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  



 

1329502.1  

 



September 12, 2025

City of Oakbrook Terrace
17W275 Butterfield Road
Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181

Attention: Mr. Craig Ward, Public Services Director

Subject: Contractor’s Pay Request No. 1
Salt Storage Barn
City of Oakbrook Terrace
(CBBEL Project No. 01.R920032.B0130)

Dear Mr. Ward:

Attached please find Pay Application No. 1 from Bulk Storage, Inc. in the amount of 
$119,963.00 for work performed on the subject project. Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. 
(CBBEL) has reviewed the pay request and believes it is representative of the work performed 
to date. The current status of the contract as we understand is as follows:

Original Contract Amount $627,627.76
Change Orders to Date $           0.00
Total Current Contract Amount $627,627.76

Total Amount Earned to Date $119,963.00
10% Retainage            ($  11,963.30)
Amount Paid to Date            ($           0.00)
Total Due This Period $107,966.70

CBBEL recommends payment to Bulk Storage, Inc. in the amount of $107,966.70 for work 
completed to date. 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely, 

John P. Caruso, PE
Vice President
Head, Mechanical/Electrical Engineering Dept. 

JPC/pjb
Cc: Dan Lynch, CBBEL

N:\OAKBROOKTERRACE\01.R920032 B\B100 - 199\9232B130 - Salt Storage Barn L1.091225.docx





Ordinance No. 25 - 

1330856.2 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 25- __________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 30.35 ENTITLED 
“COUNCIL TO ACT AS A BODY” OF CHAPTER 30 ENTITLED “GENERAL 

PROVISIONS” OF TITLE III ENTITLED “ADMINISTRATION” OF THE CODE OF 
OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of 

local government under Article VII, Section 6, of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as 

limited by such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 

government and affairs;  

WHEREAS, the City has enacted a Code of Ethics that includes Section 30.35, which 

regulates the actions of the city council; and 

WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the City deem it necessary, desirable and in the 

best interest of the City to amend Section 30.35 of the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council of the 

City of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois: 

Section 1: The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein by this reference. 

Section 2: Section 30.35 entitled “Council to Act as a Body” of Chapter 30 entitled 

“General Provisions” of Title III entitled “Administration” of the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, 

Illinois, is hereby amended to read as follows:  

§ 30.35 COUNCIL TO ACT AS A BODY.

(A) The City Council shall act in all matters as a body as permitted by the
Illinois Municipal Code. No member of the City Council shall seek to intimidate or 
threaten any public officer or employee, offer any gift or other valuable consideration 
intended to influence any public officer or employee in the performance of an official act, 
or interfere in any way with the performance of the duties of an officer or employee. As 
permitted by law, the foregoing provisions of this section shall not prevent the City 
Council from: 



Ordinance No. 25 - 

1330856.2 2 

(1) Appointing all or any one of its members to any board, committee,
or commission; or 

(2) Appointing any of its members to act as a liaison to any board,
committee or commission, organization, group of individuals or other governmental body 
or agency. 

(B) City Council members and employees may engage in informal social
discussions that do not pertain to a specific condition of employment involving either the 
employee or another employee. No members of the City Council, other than the Mayor, 
shall initiate discussions, conversation, or written or oral communications with any 
employee of the city, other than the City Administrator or the Mayor, concerning 
conditions of employment, as defined herein. Whenever any employee, other than the 
City Administrator, initiates any discussions, conversations or written or oral 
communications with any member of the City Council, other than the Mayor, concerning 
conditions of employment, as defined herein, such member shall refer the employee or 
such written communication to the City Administrator or the Mayor, as the Council 
member may determine to be appropriate. Upon receipt of any such matter by the City 
Administrator, or the Mayor, either in conjunction with the City Administrator and/or the 
City Attorney, or alone as the Mayor determines it to be appropriate in his discretion, the 
City Administrator and/or the Mayor, as appropriate, shall address the matter with the 
employee and report to the member of the City Council who referred the employee to the 
City Administrator that the matter has been addressed. Nothing in this paragraph shall 
prevent an employee from reporting a serious concern regarding conditions of 
employment, as defined herein, to the Mayor. Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent an 
employee from reporting a reasonable suspicion that an unlawful act has been or will be 
committed. In such case, the Alderperson shall report such suspicion directly to the City 
Administrator or, if the City Administrator is alleged to be the one who has or will 
commit such an act, to the Mayor.  

(C) Nothing contained herein shall prevent any member of the City Council
from requesting from the City Administrator or from the City Council meeting as a body, 
such information as may be proper and necessary to the performance of official duties, 
whether acting as a member of the City Council, as a liaison, or as a member of any 
board, committee or commission. Nothing contained herein shall prevent members of the 
City Council, when acting in their official capacity at a regular, special or emergency 
City Council meeting, or as a member of any committee or commission, from engaging 
in discussion with any employee concerning conditions of employment. 

Section 3: If any provision of this ordinance, or the application of any provision of 

this ordinance, is held unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such occurrence shall not affect 

other provisions of this ordinance, or their application, that can be given effect without the 



Ordinance No. 25 - 

1330856.2 3 

unconstitutional or invalid provision or its application.  Each unconstitutional or invalid 

provision or application of such provision is severable, unless otherwise provided by ordinance. 

Section 4: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict. 

Section 5: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage, approval 

and publication in accordance with law. 

ADOPTED this 14th day of October 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows: 

AYES: ______________________________________ 

NAYES: ______________________________________ 

ABSENT: ______________________________________ 

ABSTENTION: ______________________________________ 

APPROVED by me this 14th day of October 2025. 

___________________________________ 
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 

ATTESTED and filed in my office, 
this 14th day of October 2025. 

___________________________________ 
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of  
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois 



Ordinance No. 25 -

1330856.3 1

ORDINANCE NO. 25- __________

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 30.35 ENTITLED 
“COUNCIL TO ACT AS A BODY” OF CHAPTER 30 ENTITLED “GENERAL 

PROVISIONS” OF TITLE III ENTITLED “ADMINISTRATION” OF THE
CODE OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of 

local government under Article VII, Section 6, of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as 

limited by such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 

government and affairs; 

WHEREAS, the City has enacted a Code of Ethics that includes Section 30.35, which 

regulates the actions of the city council; and

WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the City deem it necessary, desirable and in the 

best interest of the City to amend Section 30.35 of the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council of the 

City of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois:

Section 1: The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein by this reference.

Section 2: Section 30.35 entitled “Council to Act as a Body” of Chapter 30 entitled 

“General Provisions” of Title III entitled “Administration” of the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, 

Illinois, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

§ 30.35 COUNCIL TO ACT AS A BODY.

(A) The City Council shall act in all matters as a body as permitted by the 
Illinois Municipal Code. No member of the City Council shall seek to intimidate or threaten 
any public officer or employee, offer any gift or other valuable consideration intended to 
influence any public officer or employee in the performance of an official act, or interfere 
in any way with the performance of the duties of an officer or employee. As permitted by 
law, the foregoing provisions of this section shall not prevent the City Council from:



Ordinance No. 25 -

1330856.3 2

(1) Appointing all or any one of its members to any board, committee, 
or commission; or

(2) Appointing any of its members to act as a liaison to any board, 
committee or commission, organization, group of individuals or other governmental body 
or agency.

(B) City Council members and employees may engage in informal social 
discussions that do not pertain to a specific condition of employment involving either the 
employee or another employee. No members of the City Council, other than the Mayor, 
shall initiate discussions, conversation, or written or oral communications with any 
employee of the city, other than the City Administrator or the Mayor, concerning 
conditions of employment, as defined herein. Whenever any employee, other than the City 
Administrator, initiates any discussions, conversations or written or oral communications 
with any member of the City Council, other than the Mayor, concerning conditions of 
employment, as defined herein, such member shall refer the employee or such written 
communication to the City Administrator or the Mayor, as the Council member may 
determine to be appropriate. Upon receipt of any such matter by the City Administrator, or 
the Mayor, either in conjunction with the City Administrator and/or the City Attorney, or 
alone as the Mayor determines it to be appropriate in his discretion, the City Administrator 
and/or the Mayor, as appropriate, shall address the matter with the employee and report to 
the member of the City Council who referred the employee to the City Administrator that 
the matter has been addressed. Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent an employee from 
reporting a serious concern regarding conditions of employment, as defined herein, to the 
Mayor. Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent an employee from reporting a reasonable 
suspicion that an unlawful act has been or will be committed. In such case, the Alderperson
shall report such suspicion directly to the City Administrator or, if the City Administrator 
is alleged to be the one who has or will commit such an act, to the Mayor. 

(C) Nothing contained herein shall prevent any member of the City Council 
from requesting from the City Administrator or from the City Council meeting as a body, 
such information as may be proper and necessary to the performance of official duties, 
whether acting as a member of the City Council, as a liaison, or as a member of any board, 
committee or commission. Nothing contained herein shall prevent members of the City 
Council, when acting in their official capacity at a regular, special or emergency City 
Council meeting, or as a member of any committee or commission, from engaging in 
discussion with any employee concerning conditions of employment.

Section 3: If any provision of this ordinance, or the application of any provision of this 

ordinance, is held unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, such occurrence shall not affect other 

provisions of this ordinance, or their application, that can be given effect without the 

unconstitutional or invalid provision or its application.  Each unconstitutional or invalid provision 

or application of such provision is severable, unless otherwise provided by ordinance.



Ordinance No. 25 -

1330856.3 3

Section 4: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 

ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of the conflict.

Section 5: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage, approval 

and publication in accordance with law.

ADOPTED this 14th day of October 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:

AYES: ______________________________________

NAYES: ______________________________________

ABSENT: ______________________________________

ABSTENTION: ______________________________________

APPROVED by me this 14th day of October 2025.

___________________________________
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois

ATTESTED and filed in my office,
this 14th day of October 2025.

___________________________________
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



17 W 275 Butterfield Road, Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois 60181
Phone (630) 941-8300  FAX (630) 617-0036

Interdepartmental Memo
To: Tanya Walker, City Administrator

From: Casey Calvello, Chief of Police

Re: Vehicle

Date:   September 19, 2025

The City Council previously approved Ordinance No. 25-23: An Ordinance Approving the Issuance of 
Purchase Orders for the Purchase of Two Police Interceptors and Two Jeep Grand Cherokees for the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois.  The purchase of two Ford Utility Interceptors through the Suburban 
Purchasing Cooperative from Currie Motors, Frankfort, Illinois, in the amount of $47,615.00 each were 
approved through Ordinance No. 25-23.

Since the approval of Ordinance No. 25-23, the Police Department has been notified that there will be a 
significant delay in the delivery of one of the Ford Utility Interceptors.  As a result of this delay, the Police 
Department is requesting approval to purchase a Ford F-150 Police Responder through Ogden Lincoln, 
Westmont, Illinois, in the amount of $41,095.70 instead of the delayed Ford Utility Interceptor.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommend approval for the purchase. 



Ordinance No. 25 - __

1332477.1 1

ORDINANCE NO. 25 - __

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND RATIFYING THE ISSUANCE OF A 
PURCHASE ORDER FOR THE PURCHASE OF ONE 2024 FORD F150 POLICE 

RESPONDER FOR THE CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of local 
government under Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as limited 
by such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its 
government and affairs; 

WHEREAS, on June 10, 2025, the corporate authorities of the City approved Ordinance 
No. 25- 23 entitled An Ordinance Approving and Ratifying the Issuance of Purchase Orders for 
the Purchase of Two Police Interceptors and Two Jeep Grand Cherokees for the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois which authorized the purchase of two Police Interceptors;

WHEREAS, the City has been advised that one of the Police Interceptors which 
Ordinance No. 25- 23 authorized to be purchased is no longer available for purchase;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 30.70(A)(4) of the Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, 
the City is authorized to issue purchase orders or contracts for goods or non-professional services 
for which the requirement of advertising for competitive bids is waived by a two-thirds majority 
vote of the corporate authorities then holding office;

WHEREAS, two-thirds of the corporate authorities of the City holding office have 
determined that funds are available and that it is necessary, desirable and in the best interests of 
the City that the City purchase one (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder from Westmont 
Lincoln, LLC of Westmont, Illinois, in the amount of Forty-One Thousand Ninety-Five and 
70/100 Dollars ($41,095.70) constituting personal property necessary for the City to perform 
essential governmental functions; and

WHEREAS, in the opinion of two-thirds of the corporate authorities of the City holding 
office, it is advisable, necessary and in the public interest that the City waive advertisement for 
bids, waive the procedure prescribed for the submission of competitive bids, waive obtaining 
three written quotes directly from the vendor, authorize soliciting proposals in the open market
and purchase one (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder from Westmont Lincoln, LLC of 
Westmont, Illinois, constituting personal property necessary for the City to perform essential 
governmental functions from the vendors described above and on the terms and conditions 
therein provided;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and the City Council of the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois:

Section 1: The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this ordinance are 
found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this ordinance.



Ordinance No. 25 - __

1332477.1 2

Section 2: The authorization to purchase one (1) of the two (2) 2025 Ford Utility 
Interceptors through the Suburban Purchasing Cooperative from Currie Motors, Frankfort, 
Illinois, in the amount of Forty-seven Thousand Six Hundred Fifteen and 00/100 Dollars 
($47,615.00) contained in Ordinance No. 25-23 entitled An Ordinance Approving and Ratifying 
the Issuance of Purchase Orders for the Purchase of Two Police Interceptors and Two Jeep 
Grand Cherokees for the City of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois, is hereby rescinded; and the 
authorization in Ordinance No. 25-23 to purchase the described motor vehicle is hereby repealed
However, the authorizations to purchase the other motor vehicles contained in Ordinance No. 25-
23 are not repealed, and are hereby expressly reaffirmed;

Section 3: It is hereby determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the public 
interest that the City waive advertising for competitive bids, waive the procedure prescribed for 
the submission of competitive bids, waive obtaining three written quotes directly from the 
vendors and authorize the issuance of a purchase order for one (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police 
Responder from Westmont Lincoln, LLC of Westmont, Illinois, constituting personal property 
necessary for the City to perform essential governmental functions from the vendor described 
herein.

Section 4: The Interim City Administrator, on behalf of the City, shall be and is 
hereby authorized to issue a purchase order, or in the alternative, the action of the Interim City 
Administrator is hereby ratified in executing and issuing a purchase order to the vendor 
described herein for the purchase of one (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder from Westmont 
Lincoln, LLC of Westmont, Illinois, in the amount of Forty-One Ninety-Five and 70/100 Dollars 
($41,095.70) for the City to perform essential governmental functions, copies of the Purchase 
Order for which is attached hereto marked as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof.

Section 5: All ordinances and resolutions, or parts thereof, in conflict with the 
provisions of this ordinance are, to the extent of such conflict, expressly repealed.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY.]



Ordinance No. 25 - __

1332477.1 3

Section 6: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage by two-
thirds of the corporate authorities of the City holding office, approval and publication in 
accordance with law.

ADOPTED this 14th day of October 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:

AYES: ____________________________________

NAYES: ____________________________________

ABSENT: ____________________________________

ABSTENTION: ____________________________________

APPROVED by me this 14th day of October 2025.

___________________________________
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois

ATTESTED and filed in my office,
this 14th day of October 2025.

___________________________________
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 4 

 

CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE, ILLINOIS 
PURCHASE ORDER 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SERVICES & DELIVERABLES. 

Seller agrees to perform the services ("Services") and/or provide the goods or Service deliverables (collectively 
referred to as "Goods"), described in any purchase order, in accordance with the applicable purchase order, scope of 
work and with these Terms and Conditions ("Agreement").  Upon acceptance of a purchase order, shipment of 
Goods or commencement of a Service, Seller shall be bound by the provisions of this Agreement, including all 
provisions set forth on the face of any applicable purchase order, whether Seller acknowledges or otherwise signs 
this Agreement or the purchase order, unless Seller objects to such terms in writing prior to shipping Goods or 
commencing Services. 

This writing does not constitute a firm offer within the meaning of Section 2-205 of the Illinois Commercial Code 
(810 ILCS 5/2-205) and may be revoked at any time prior to acceptance.  This Agreement may not be added to, 
modified, superseded or otherwise altered, except by writing signed by the City of Oakbrook Terrace City Manager. 
 Any terms or conditions contained in any acknowledgment, invoice or other communication of Seller, which are 
inconsistent with the terms and conditions herein, are hereby rejected.  To the extent that this Agreement might be 
treated as an acceptance of Seller’s prior offer, such acceptance is expressly made on condition of assent by Seller to 
the terms hereof and shipment of the Goods, or beginning performance of any Services by Seller shall constitute 
such assent.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace hereby reserves the right to reschedule any delivery or cancel any 
purchase order issued at any time prior to shipment of the Goods or prior to commencement of any Services.  The 
City of Oakbrook Terrace shall not be subject to any charges or other fees as a result of such cancellation. 

2. DELIVERY. 

Time is of the essence.  Delivery of Goods shall be made pursuant to the schedule, via the carrier and to the place 
specified on the face of the applicable purchase order.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace reserves the right to return, 
shipping charges collect, all Goods received in advance of the delivery schedule. If no delivery schedule is specified, 
the order shall be filled promptly and delivery will be made by the most expeditious form of land transportation. If 
no method of shipment is specified in the purchase order, Seller shall use the least expensive carrier.  In the event 
Seller fails to deliver the Goods within the time specified, the City of Oakbrook Terrace may, at its option, decline to 
accept the Goods and terminate the Agreement or may demand its allocable fair share of Seller’s available Goods 
and terminate the balance of the Agreement.  Seller shall package all items in suitable containers to permit safe 
transportation and handling. Each delivered container must be labeled and marked to identify contents without 
opening and all boxes and packages must contain packing sheets listing contents.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace’s 
purchase order number must appear on all shipping containers, packing sheets, delivery tickets and bills of lading. 

3. IDENTIFICATION, RISK OF LOSS & DESTRUCTION OF GOODS.  

Identification of the Goods shall occur in accordance with Section 2-501 of the Illinois Commercial Code (810 ILCS 
5/2-501).  Seller assumes all risk of loss until receipt by the City of Oakbrook Terrace. Title to the Goods shall pass 
to the City of Oakbrook Terrace upon receipt by it of the Goods at the designated destination.  If the Goods ordered 
are destroyed prior to title passing to the City of Oakbrook Terrace, the City of Oakbrook Terrace may at its option 
cancel the Agreement or require delivery of substitute Goods of equal quantity and quality.  Such delivery will be 
made as soon as commercially practicable.  If loss of Goods is partial, the City of Oakbrook Terrace shall have the 
right to require delivery of the Goods not destroyed. 

4. PAYMENT. 

As full consideration for the performance of the Services, delivery of the Goods and the assignment of rights to the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace as provided herein, the City of Oakbrook Terrace shall pay Seller (i) the amount agreed 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 5 

upon and specified in the applicable purchase order; or (ii) Seller’s quoted price on date of shipment (for Goods), or 
the date Services were started (for Services), whichever is lower.  Applicable taxes and other charges such as 
shipping costs, duties, customs, tariffs, imposts and government-imposed surcharges shall be stated separately on 
Seller’s invoice.  Payment is made when the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s check is mailed. Payment shall not 
constitute acceptance.  All personal property taxes assessable upon the Goods prior to receipt by the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace of Goods conforming to the purchase order shall be borne by Seller. Seller shall invoice the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace for all Goods delivered and all Services actually performed.  Each invoice submitted by Seller 
must be provided to the City of Oakbrook Terrace within ninety (90) days of completion of the Services or delivery 
of Goods and must reference the applicable purchase order, and the City of Oakbrook Terrace reserves the right to 
return all incorrect invoices.  Unless otherwise specified on the face of a purchase order, the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace shall pay the invoiced amount after receipt and approval of a correct invoice pursuant to the terms of the 
Local Government Prompt Payment Act (50 ILCS 505/1 et seq.). 

5. WARRANTIES. 

5.1 Services:  Seller represents and warrants that all Services shall be completed in a professional, workmanlike 
manner, with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good and sound professional procedures.  
Further, Seller represents and warrants that the Services shall be completed in accordance with applicable 
specifications and shall be correct and appropriate for the purposes contemplated in this Agreement.  Seller 
represents and warrants that the performance of Services under this Agreement will not conflict with, or be 
prohibited in any way by, any other agreement or statutory restriction to which Seller is bound. 

5.2 Goods:  Seller warrants that all Goods provided will be new and will not be used or refurbished. Seller warrants 
that all Goods delivered shall be free from defects in materials and workmanship and shall conform to all applicable 
specifications for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of delivery to the City of Oakbrook Terrace or for the 
period provided in Seller’s standard warranty covering the Goods, whichever is longer.  Seller hereby agrees that it 
will make spare parts available to the City of Oakbrook Terrace for a period of five (5) years from the date of 
shipment at Seller’s then current price, less applicable discounts.  Additionally, Goods purchased shall be subject to 
all written and oral express warranties made by Seller’s agents, and to all warranties provided for by the Illinois 
Commercial Code.  All warranties shall be construed as conditions as well as warranties and shall not be exclusive. 
Seller shall furnish to the City of Oakbrook Terrace Seller’s standard warranty and service guaranty applicable to the 
Goods.  All warranties and service guaranties shall run to the City of Oakbrook Terrace. 

If the City of Oakbrook Terrace identifies a warranty problem with the Goods during the warranty period, the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace will promptly notify Seller of such problems and will return the Goods to Seller, at Seller’s 
expense.  Within five (5) business days of receipt of the returned Goods, Seller shall, at the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace’s option, either repair or replace such Goods, or credit the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s account for the same. 
 Replacement and repaired Goods shall be warranted for the remainder of the warranty period or six (6) months, 
whichever is longer. 

6. INSPECTION. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace shall have a reasonable time after receipt of Goods or Service deliverables and before 
payment to inspect them for conformity hereto, and Goods received prior to inspection shall not be deemed accepted 
until the City of Oakbrook Terrace has run an adequate test to determine whether the Goods conform to the 
specifications hereof. Use of a portion of the Goods for the purpose of testing shall not constitute an acceptance of 
the Goods.  If Goods tendered do not wholly conform to the provisions hereof, the City of Oakbrook Terrace shall 
have the right to reject such Goods.  Nonconforming Goods will be returned to Seller freight collect, and risk of loss 
will pass to Seller upon the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s delivery to the common carrier. 

7. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace is interested only in the results obtained under this Agreement; the manner and means 
of achieving the results are subject to Seller’s sole control.  Seller is an independent contractor for all purposes, 
without express or implied authority to bind the City of Oakbrook Terrace by contract or otherwise. Neither Seller 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 6 

nor its employees, agents or subcontractors (“Seller's Assistants”) are agents or employees of the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace, and, therefore, are not entitled to any employee benefits of the City of Oakbrook Terrace, including, but not 
limited to, any type of insurance. Seller shall be responsible for all costs and expenses incident to performing its 
obligations under this Agreement and shall provide Seller’s own supplies and equipment. 

8. SELLER RESPONSIBLE FOR TAXES AND RECORDS. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace is a unit of government.  No charges will be allowed for taxes from which the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace is exempt.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace is not liable for the Illinois Retailer’s Occupation Tax, 
the Service Occupation Tax or the Service Use Tax.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace is also exempt from Federal 
Excise Transportation Tax. Seller shall be solely responsible for filing the appropriate federal, state and local tax 
forms and paying all such taxes or fees, including estimated taxes and employment taxes, due with respect to 
Seller’s receipt of payment under this Agreement.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace shall have no responsibility to pay 
or withhold from any payment to Seller under this Agreement, any federal, state or local taxes or fees.  The City of 
Oakbrook Terrace will report amounts paid to Seller required to be reported by the Internal Revenue Code and the 
regulations issued thereunder by filing Form 1099-MISC with the Internal Revenue Service. 

9. INSURANCE. 

Seller shall be solely responsible for maintaining and requiring Seller’s assistants to maintain such adequate health, 
auto, workers’ compensation, unemployment compensation, disability, liability, and other insurance, as is required 
by law or as is the common practice in Seller’s trades or businesses, whichever affords greater coverage.  Upon 
request, Seller shall provide the City of Oakbrook Terrace with certificates of insurance or evidence of coverage 
before commencing performance under this Agreement.  Seller shall provide adequate coverage for any City of 
Oakbrook Terrace property under the care, custody or control of Seller or Seller’s assistants. 

10. INDEMNITY. 

Seller shall indemnify, hold harmless, and at the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s request, defend the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace, its officers, trustees, agents and employees, against all claims, liabilities, damages, losses and expenses, 
including attorneys’ fees and cost of suit arising out of or in any way connected with the Goods or Services provided 
under this Agreement, including, without limitation, (i) any claim based on the death or bodily injury to any person, 
destruction or damage to property, or contamination of the environment and any associated clean-up costs; (ii) 
Seller’s failing to satisfy the Internal Revenue Service’s guidelines for an independent contractor; (iii) any claim 
based on the negligence, omissions or willful misconduct of Seller or any Seller’s assistants; and (iv) any claim by a 
third party against the City of Oakbrook Terrace alleging that the Goods or Services, the results of such Services, or 
any other products or processes provided under this Agreement infringe a patent, copyright, trademark, trade secret 
or other proprietary right of a third party, whether such are provided alone or in combination with other products, 
software or processes. Seller shall not settle any such suit or claim without the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s prior 
written approval. Seller agrees to pay or reimburse all costs that may be incurred by the City of Oakbrook Terrace in 
enforcing this indemnity, including attorneys’ fees. 

Should the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s use of any Goods or Services purchased from Seller be enjoined, be 
threatened by injunction, or be the subject of any legal proceeding, Seller shall, at is sole cost and expense, either (a) 
substitute fully equivalent non-infringing Goods or Services; (b) modify the Goods or Services so that they no 
longer infringe but remain fully equivalent in functionality; (c) obtain for the City of Oakbrook Terrace the right to 
continue using the Goods or Services; or (d) if none of the foregoing is possible, refund all amounts paid for the 
infringing Goods or Services. 

11. CONFIDENTIALITY. 

Seller may acquire knowledge of the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information (as defined below) in 
connection with its performance hereunder and agrees to keep such City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential 
Information in confidence during and following termination or expiration of this Agreement.  “City of Oakbrook 
Terrace Confidential Information” includes, but is not limited to, all information, whether written or oral, in any 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 7 

form, considered confidential by the City of Oakbrook Terrace relating to the business or governmental affairs of the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace which is disclosed directly or indirectly to Seller.  In addition, the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace Confidential Information means any third party’s proprietary or confidential information disclosed to Seller 
in the course of providing Services or Goods to the City of Oakbrook Terrace. City of Oakbrook Terrace 
Confidential Information does not include any information (i) which Seller lawfully knew without restriction on 
disclosure before the City of Oakbrook Terrace disclosed it to Seller; (ii) which is now or becomes publicly known 
through no wrongful act or failure to act of Seller; (iii) which Seller developed independently without use of the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information, as evidenced by appropriate documentation; or (iv) which is 
hereafter lawfully furnished to Seller by a third party as a matter of right and without restriction on disclosure.  In 
addition, Seller may disclose Confidential Information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to a requirement of 
a government agency or law so long as Seller provides prompt notice to the City of Oakbrook Terrace of such 
requirement prior to disclosure. 

Seller agrees not to copy, alter or directly or indirectly disclose any the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential 
Information.  Additionally, Seller agrees to limit its internal distribution of the City of Oakbrook Terrace 
Confidential Information to Seller’s employees and contractors who have a need to know, and to take steps to ensure 
that the dissemination is so limited, including the execution by Seller’s employees and contractors of nondisclosure 
agreements with provisions substantially similar to those set forth herein. In no event will Seller use less than the 
degree of care and means that it uses to protect its own information of like kind, but in any event not less than 
reasonable care to prevent the unauthorized use of the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information. 

Seller further agrees not to use the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information except in the course of 
performing hereunder and will not use such City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information for its own benefit 
or for the benefit of any third party.  The mingling of the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information with 
information of Seller shall not affect the confidential nature or ownership of the same as stated hereunder. Seller 
agrees not to design or manufacture any products which incorporate the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential 
Information.  All the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information is and shall remain the property of the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace.  Upon the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s written request or the termination of this Agreement, 
Seller shall return, transfer or assign to the City of Oakbrook Terrace all the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential 
Information, including all Work Product, as defined herein, and all copies thereof. 

12. OWNERSHIP OF WORK PRODUCT. 

For purposes of this Agreement, “Work Product” shall include, without limitation, all designs, discoveries, 
creations, works, devices, masks, models, work in progress, service deliverables, inventions, products, computer 
programs, procedures, improvements, developments, drawings, notes, documents, business processes, information 
and materials made, conceived or developed by Seller alone or with others which result from or relate to the 
Services performed hereunder. Standard Goods manufactured by Seller and sold to the City of Oakbrook Terrace 
without having been designed, customized or modified for the City of Oakbrook Terrace do not constitute Work 
Product.  All Work Product shall at all times be and remain the sole and exclusive property of the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace.  Seller hereby agrees to irrevocably assign and transfer to the City of Oakbrook Terrace and does hereby 
assign and transfer to the City of Oakbrook Terrace all of its worldwide right, title and interest in and to the Work 
Product including all associated intellectual property rights.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace will have the sole right 
to determine the treatment of any Work Product, including the right to keep it as trade secret, execute and file patent 
applications on it, to use and disclose it without prior patent application, to file registrations for copyright or 
trademark in its own name or to follow any other procedure that the City of Oakbrook Terrace deems appropriate. 
Seller agrees: (a) to disclose promptly in writing to the City of Oakbrook Terrace all Work Product in its possession; 
(b) to assist the City of Oakbrook Terrace in every reasonable way, at the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s expense, to 
secure, perfect, register, apply for, maintain, and defend for the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s benefit all copyrights, 
patent rights, mask work rights, trade secret rights, and all other proprietary rights or statutory protections in and to 
the Work Product in the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s name as it deems appropriate; and (c) to otherwise treat all 
Work Product as the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information as described above. These obligations to 
disclose, assist, execute and keep confidential survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. All tools and 
equipment supplied by the City of Oakbrook Terrace to Seller shall remain the sole property of the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace. 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 8 

Seller will ensure that Seller’s assistants appropriately waive any and all claims and assign to the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace any and all rights or any interests in any Work Product or original works created in connection with this 
Agreement. Seller irrevocably agrees not to assert against the City of Oakbrook Terrace or its direct or indirect 
customers, assignees or licensees any claim of any intellectual property rights of Seller affecting the Work Product. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace will not have rights to any works conceived or reduced to practice by Seller which 
were developed entirely on Seller’s own time without using equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret or the City 
of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information, unless (i) such works relate to the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s 
business, or the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (ii) such 
works result from any Services performed by Seller for the City of Oakbrook Terrace. 

13. TERMINATION. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Seller if Seller fails to perform 
or otherwise breaches this Agreement, files a petition in bankruptcy, becomes insolvent, or dissolves.  In the event 
of such termination, the City of Oakbrook Terrace shall pay Seller for the portion of the Services satisfactorily 
performed and those conforming Goods delivered to the City of Oakbrook Terrace through the date of termination, 
less appropriate offsets, including any additional costs to be incurred by the City of Oakbrook Terrace in completing 
the Services. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace may terminate this Agreement, or any Service(s), for any other reason upon thirty 
(30) days' written notice to Seller. Seller shall cease to perform Services and/or provide Goods under this Agreement 
on the date of termination specified in such notice. In the event of such termination, the City of Oakbrook Terrace 
shall be liable to Seller only for those Services satisfactorily performed and those conforming Goods delivered to the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace through the date of termination, less appropriate offsets. 

Seller may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the City of Oakbrook Terrace if the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace fails to pay Seller within sixty (60) days after Seller notifies the City of Oakbrook Terrace in writing that 
payment is past due. 

Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason: (a) each party will be released from all 
obligations to the other arising after the date of expiration or termination, except for those which by their terms 
survive such termination or expiration; and (b) Seller will promptly notify the City of Oakbrook Terrace of all the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information or any Work Product in Seller’s possession and, at the expense 
of Seller and in accordance with the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s instructions, will promptly deliver to the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace all such the City of Oakbrook Terrace Confidential Information and/or Work Product. 

14. REMEDIES. 

If Seller breaches this Agreement, the City of Oakbrook Terrace shall have all remedies available by law and at 
equity.  For the purchase of Goods, Seller's sole remedy in the event of breach of this Agreement by the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace shall be the right to recover damages in the amount equal to the difference between market price 
at the time of breach and the purchase price specified in the Agreement.  No alternate method of measuring damages 
shall apply to this transaction. Seller shall have no right to resell Goods for the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s account 
in the event of wrongful rejection, revocation of acceptance, failure to make payment or repudiation by the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace; and any resale so made shall be for the account of Seller. 

15. FORCE MAJEURE. 

The City of Oakbrook Terrace shall not be liable for any failure to perform including failure to (i) accept 
performance of Services; or (ii) take delivery of the Goods as provided caused by circumstances beyond its control 
which make such performance commercially impractical including, but not limited to, acts of God, fire, flood, acts 
of war, government action, accident, labor difficulties or shortage, inability to obtain materials, equipment or 
transportation. In the event the City of Oakbrook Terrace is so excused, either party may terminate the Agreement; 
and the City of Oakbrook Terrace shall at its expense and risk, return any Goods received to the place of shipment. 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 9 

16. SEVERABILITY. 

If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and 
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

17. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 

IN NO EVENT SHALL THE CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE BE LIABLE TO SELLER OR SELLER’S 
ASSISTANTS, OR ANY THIRD PARTY FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, SPECIAL OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS AGREEMENT, 
WHETHER OR NOT THE CITY OF OAKBROOK TERRACE WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF 
SUCH DAMAGE. 

18. ASSIGNMENT; WAIVER. 

Seller may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, without the prior 
written consent of the City of Oakbrook Terrace. Any assignment or transfer without such written consent shall be 
null and void. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors and assigns of the 
City of Oakbrook Terrace without restriction. A waiver of any default hereunder or of any term or condition of this 
Agreement shall not be deemed to be a continuing waiver or a waiver of any other default or any other term or 
condition. 

19. NONEXCLUSIVE AGREEMENT. 

This is not an exclusive agreement.  The City of Oakbrook Terrace is free to engage others to perform Services or 
provide Goods the same as or similar to Seller’s.  Seller is free to, and is encouraged to, advertise, offer and provide 
Seller’s Services and/or Goods to others provided, however, that Seller does not breach this Agreement. 

20. NOTICES. 

Except for Purchase Orders which may be sent by local mail, facsimile transmission, or electronically transmitted, 
all notices, and other communications hereunder shall be in writing, and shall be addressed to Seller or to an 
authorized City of Oakbrook Terrace representative, and shall be considered given when (a) delivered personally; 
(b) sent by confirmed telex or facsimile; (c) sent by commercial overnight courier with written verification receipt; 
or (d) three (3) days after having been sent, postage prepaid, by first class or certified mail. 

21. SURVIVAL OF OBLIGATIONS. 

Any obligations and duties which by their nature extend beyond the expiration or termination of this Agreement 
shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

22. GOVERNING LAW. 

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with, and disputes shall be governed by, the laws of the State of 
Illinois, excluding its conflict of law rules.  The Circuit Court of DuPage County, Illinois, or the United States 
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, shall have jurisdiction and venue over all 
controversies arising out of, or relating to, this Agreement.  The applicability of the U.N. Convention on Contracts 
for the International Sale of Goods is hereby expressly waived by the parties, and it shall not apply to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. 

23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION. 

This Agreement is the complete, final and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement between the parties and 
supersedes any and all other prior and contemporaneous negotiations and agreements, whether oral or written, 
between them relating to the subject matter hereof.  This Agreement may not be varied, modified, altered, or 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 10 

amended except in writing, including a purchase order or a change order issued by the City of Oakbrook Terrace, 
signed by the parties.  The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall prevail, notwithstanding any variance with 
the terms and conditions of any acknowledgment or other document submitted by Seller.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, this Agreement will not supersede or take the place of any written agreement which is signed by both 
parties and covers the same subject matter as this Agreement or its related purchase orders. 

24. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. 

24.1 General:  Seller shall comply fully with all applicable federal, state and local laws in the performance of this 
Agreement including, but not limited to, all applicable employment, tax, export control and environmental laws. 

24.2 Hazardous Materials:  If Goods include hazardous materials, Seller represents and warrants that Seller 
understands the nature of any hazards associated with the manufacture, handling and transportation of such 
hazardous materials. 

24.3 Customs:  Upon the City of Oakbrook Terrace’s request, Seller will promptly provide the City of Oakbrook 
Terrace with a statement of origin for all Goods and United States Customs documentation for Goods wholly or 
partially manufactured outside of the United States. 

25. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF. 

Seller acknowledges and agrees that the obligations and promises of Seller under this Agreement are of a unique, 
intellectual nature giving them particular value.  Seller’s breach of any of the promises contained in this Agreement 
will result in irreparable and continuing damage to the City of Oakbrook Terrace for which there will be no adequate 
remedy at law and, in the event of such breach, the City of Oakbrook Terrace will be entitled to seek injunctive relief, 
or a decree of specific performance. 

26. CERTIFICATIONS. 

Seller hereby certifies to the City of Oakbrook Terrace the following: 

26.1 Seller is not delinquent in the payment of taxes to the Illinois Department of Revenue in accordance with 
65 ILCS 5/11-42.1-1; 

26.2 Seller is not barred from contracting as a result of a violation of either Section 33E-3 (bid-rigging) or 33E-4 
(bid-totaling) of the Criminal Code of 1961 (720 ILCS 5/33E-3 and 5/33E-4); 

26.3 Seller is not in default, as defined in 5ILCS 385/2, on an educational loan, as defined in 5ILCS 385/1; 

26.4 Seller maintains and will maintain a drug-free workplace in accordance with the Drug Free Workplace Act 
(30 ILCS 580/1 et seq.); 

26.5 Seller provides equal employment opportunities in accordance with the Illinois Human Rights Act (775 
ILCS 5/1-101 et seq.);  

26.6 Seller is in compliance with 775 ILCS 5/2-105(A)(4) requiring a written sexual harassment policy; 

26.7  No City of Oakbrook Terrace officer, spouse or dependent child of a City officer, agent on behalf of any 
City officer or trust in which a City officer, the spouse or dependent child of a City officer or a beneficiary is a 
holder of any interest in the seller; or, if the Seller’s stock is traded on a nationally recognized securities market, that 
no City officer, spouse or dependent child of a City officer, agent on behalf of any City officer or trust in which a 
City officer, the spouse or dependent child of a City officer or a beneficiary is a holder of more than one percent 
(1%) of the Seller, but if any City officer, spouse or dependent child of a City officer, agent on behalf of any City 
officer or trust in which a City officer, the spouse or dependent child of a City officer or a beneficiary is a holder of 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 
Exhibit “A” 

Purchase Order for One (1) 2024 Ford F150 Police Responder 

1332477.1 11 

less than one percent (1%) of such Seller, the Seller has disclosed to the City in writing the name(s) of the holder of 
such interest; 

26.8 No officer or employee of City of Oakbrook Terrace has solicited any gratuity, discount, entertainment, 
hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other tangible or intangible item having monetary value including, but not limited 
to, cash, food and drink, and honoraria for speaking engagements related to or attributable to the government 
employment or the official position of the employee or officer from the Seller in violation of Section 30.33 of the 
Code of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois;  

26.9 The Seller has not given to any officer or employee of the City of Oakbrook Terrace any gratuity, discount, 
entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other tangible or intangible item having monetary value including, 
but not limited to, cash, food and drink, and honoraria for speaking engagements related to or attributable to the 
government employment or the official position of the employee or officer in violation of Section 30.33 of the Code 
of Oakbrook Terrace, Illinois; and 

26.10 Neither the Seller nor any of its principals, shareholders, members, partners, or affiliates, as applicable, is a 
person or entity named as a specially designated National and Blocked Person (as defined in Presidential Executive 
Order 13224) and that it is not acting, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of a specially designated National and 
Blocked Person and that the Contractor and its principals, shareholders, members, partners, or affiliates, as 
applicable, are not, directly or indirectly, engaged in, and are not facilitating, the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement on behalf of any person or entity named as a Specially Designated National and Blocked Person.



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 

1332477.1 12 

City of Oakbrook Terrace Purchase 
Order 

17W275 Butterfield Road 
Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181-4041 
Phone 630-941-8300 

Fax 630-941-7254 

              
Supplier Name Westmont Lincoln, LLC Order Date: October 14, 2025 
Address 1 100 West Ogden Avenue Payment Terms:  
Address 2  F.O.B. Point:  
City, State Zip Westmont, IL 60559 Freight Terms: 
E Mail:   Acct Code: 
Phone:  Tax Exempt No.:  
Attn:   
           
Ship To:   Invoice To:  
City of Oakbrook Terrace  City of Oakbrook Terrace 

17W275 Butterfield Road  17W275 Butterfield Road 

Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181-4041  Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181-4041 

Phone: 630-941-8300  Phone:  630-941-8300 

Attn: Casey Calvello, Chief of Police  Attn: Tanya Walker, Interim City Administrator 
       
Tax ID:  Ship via:  Required Ship Date:  

Item Quantity Part No. Description 
U
M Price Total 

1 1 
239206 

2024 Ford F150 Police Responder – VIN 
1FTFW1P86RKF34132 

 $37,615.00 $37,615.00 

2 1  Premium Care  $2,670.00 $2,670.00 

3 1  Documentary Fee 
 $367.70 $367.70 

4 1  Electronic Filing  $35.00 $35.00 
5 1  License and Title  $165.00 $165.00 
   Grand Total  $41,095.70 $41,095.70 
       

              
Purchase Order Comments         
Authorized by: 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Casey Calvello, Chief of Police 
 
Approved by: 
 
__________________________________________________ 
Tanya Walker, Interim City Administrator 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 

1332477.1 13 

 

City of Oakbrook Terrace Page 2 of 2 

17W275 Butterfield Road  
Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181-4041  
Phone 630-941-8300  

Fax 630-941-7254  
Supplier Name  Westmont Lincoln, LLC  

Address 1 100 West Ogden Avenue  
Address 2   
City, State, Zip Westmont, IL 60559  
  
Purchase Order Comments         
 
 
 

      
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
Please sign below and return acknowledgement of this purchase order. 
  
Name & Title Date 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Ordinance No. 25 - __ 

1332477.1 14 

 

City of Oakbrook Terrace Receiving Report 
17W275 Butterfield Road  Oakbrook Terrace, IL 60181-4041 

Phone 630-941-8300    

Fax  630-941-7254    
Supplier Name Westmont Lincoln, LLC    
Address 1  100 West Ogden Avenue    
Address 2     
City, State & Zip Westmont, IL 60559    
     
Item No. Date Quantity Received By Carrier Packing List No. 
            
            
            
            
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      

 



Resolution No. 25-

333127.1 1

RESOLUTION NO. 25 -

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING COMPLIANCE WITH 
SECTION 7.3(B) OF THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT

WHEREAS, the City of Oakbrook Terrace (the “City”) is a home-rule unit of local 
government under Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution and, except as limited by 
such section, it may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 
affairs;

WHEREAS, the City strives to maintain a competitive compensation and benefits program 
in order to attract and retain capable, career-oriented employees;

WHEREAS, the City’s staff, under the direction of the City Council, conducts periodic 
compensation studies to ensure that the City’s wages and benefits are both competitive and fiscally 
responsible;

WHEREAS, Section 7.3(b) of the Illinois Open Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 120/7.3(b), requires
that the City, being an employer participating in the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund, at least six 
(6) days before it approves an employee’s total compensation package that is equal to or in excess of 
One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000) per year, post the total compensation package for 
that employee on its website, or in lieu of posting the information directly on the City’s website, post 
directions on the City’s website on how to access that information, provided that a physical copy of 
the total compensation package for that employee is posted at the principal office of the City;

WHEREAS, for purposes of Section 7.3(b) of the Illinois Open Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 
120/7.3(b), “total compensation package” shall mean payment by the City to the employee for 
salary, health insurance, a housing allowance, a vehicle allowance, a clothing allowance, bonuses, 
loans, vacation days granted and sick days granted;

WHEREAS, the City Council intends to consider the approval of a total compensation 
package for the City Administrator that is equal to or in excess of One Hundred Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($150,000) per year at its meeting on October 14, 2025; and

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it advisable, necessary and in the public interest that 
the City prepare and post, on or before October 8, 2025, a notice of the total compensation package 
for the City Administrator on its website, or in lieu of posting the information directly on the City’s 
website, post directions on the City’s website how to access that information, provided that a 
physical copy of the City Administrator’s total compensation package is posted at the principal 
office of the City;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois, as follows:

Section 1: The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this resolution are found 
to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this resolution.



1333127.1 2

Section 2: The Interim City Administrator shall be and is hereby authorized and directed 
to prepare and post, on or before October 8, 2025, a copy of the notice of the total compensation 
package for the City Administrator on the City’s website, or in lieu of posting the information 
directly on the City’s website, post directions on the City’s website on how to access that 
information, provided that a physical copy of the City Administrator’s total compensation package is 
posted at the principal office of the City.

Section 3: This resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 
in accordance with law.

ADOPTED this 23rd day of September 2025, pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:

AYES: _________________________________

NAYS: _________________________________

ABSENT: _________________________________

ABSTENTION: _________________________________

APPROVED by me this 23rd day of September 2025.

_________________________________________
Paul Esposito, Mayor of the City of
Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois

ATTESTED and filed in my office,
this 23rd day of September 2025.

_____________________________________
Michael Shadley, Clerk of the of the City
of Oakbrook Terrace, DuPage County, Illinois



City of Oakbrook Terrace 
Fiscal Year 2027 Budget Calendar Detail 

 

 

October 20, 2025 Budget Kick-off, new guidelines and any changes for the FY 2027 Budget are discussed and worksheets are 
distributed to Department Heads.   

November 11, 2025 Property tax levy estimates (35 ILCS 200/18-60) must be determined not less than 20 days prior to the 
adoption of the actual levy. 
 

November 28 2025 Department Heads must submit their FY 2027 proposed Budget and updated capital improvement requests 
on BS&A Portal. Department Heads must include all supporting documentation justifying changes in service 
levels and activities. In addition, Departments link their proposed budgets to the strategic goals.  
 

December 1 – 31, 2025 Department Heads review their budgets with the City Administrator. The City Administrator reviews 
Department budgets in light of major increases, new programs, and to ensure the Departments complied with 
the budgetary guidelines for the year. The City Administrator also reviews the departmental budgets for 
mistakes and accuracy in calculation of their requests. Finally, the City Administrator reviews the 
Department requests to determine if certain requests achieve overall strategic goals. Department Heads will 
make any necessary changes and re-submit their revised budgets to the City Administrator.  

 
December 9, 2025 Truth in Taxation Hearings (35 ILCS 200) are required by all governmental units in Illinois when the 

proposed levy is 105% more than the prior year. The purpose of the Truth and Taxation hearings is to 
disclose through publication and public hearing proposed levy increases in excess of 105%. Public hearings 
and notices are only required when the levy exceeds the prior year’s final extension by 105%. The notice of 
the Truth and Taxation hearing must be published in a local newspaper not more than 14 days nor less than 7 
days prior to the actual public hearing date. If the proposed levy is less than a 105% increase, then no hearing 
or notice is required.  

 
December 9, 2025 The levy is adopted by the Council and must be filed with the County Clerk’s Office by the last Tuesday in 

December. The City Council through separate ordinance (following the levy of taxes) may abate or reduce 
the levy (reduce the property tax collections) for a specific amount that the City has other resources available 
to pay for debt service.  

 
January 12, 2026 The Finance Director formulates revenue projections by fund. Revenue forecasts are one of the most 

important steps in the budget process because it can determine the ultimate level of spending.  
 

January 19, 2026 The City Administrator reviews final Department requests in light of revenue considerations.  
 

February 17 & 18, 2026 Once the City Administrator/Finance Director reviews all Departmental budget requests, the proposed FY 
2027 Budget is submitted to the City Council. The City Council begins their budget evaluations and analysis.  
This year we are saving an extra day if needed on the 18th.  

 
March 18, 2026 During the budget meetings special consideration is paid to the level of employee pay, pensions, insurance, 

and other benefits which typically represent 60% of the City’s General Fund budget. All revisions and 
changes resulting from these meetings will be incorporated in the final proposed FY 2027 Budget.  

 
April 1, 2026 The proposed Budget will be available for public inspection at City Hall. Illinois Budget Law (65 ILCS 5/8-

2-9.1) requires municipalities to have a draft edition of the Budget be available for public inspection at least 
ten (10) days before approval. A notice of the public hearing will be published in the local paper. 

 
April 28, 2026 Illinois Budget Law (65 ILCS 5/8-2-9.1) requires municipalities to hold a public hearing prior to the 

adoption of the Budget. The Budget can be adopted anytime after the public hearing. Notice of the public 
hearing shall be published in the newspaper at least one week before the budget hearing.  

 
April 28, 2026 City Code and State Statute requires that the Budget must be adopted prior to the beginning of the fiscal year 

or May 1. The City’s Budget is adopted through ordinance and the Capital Improvement Fund’s five (5) year 
plan is adopted through resolution.  

 
May 28, 2026 The FY 2027 Budget will be filed with the DuPage County Clerk as required by State Statute within 30 days 

of adoption. 
 

July 28, 2025 The FY 2027 Budget must be filed with the GFOA within 90 days of City Council approval for the 
Distinguished Budget Presentation Award System.  
 

 


